STATE OF MICHIGAN
IN THE SUPREME COURT

PEOPLE OF THE STATE OF MICHIGAN,

Plaintiff-Appellee,

-v-

PAUL J. BETTS,

Defendant-Appellant.

Supreme Court No.

Court of Appeals No. 319642

Circuit Court No. 12-62665 FH

MUSKEGON COUNTY PROSECUTOR
Attorney for Plaintiff-Appellee

JEANICE DAGHER-MARGOSIAN (P35933)
Attorney for Defendant-Appellant

148981

~~148978~~

Suppl

AMENDED APPLICATION FOR LEAVE TO APPEAL

STATE APPELLATE DEFENDER OFFICE

BY: JEANICE DAGHER-MARGOSIAN (P35933)
Assistant Defender
State Appellate Defender Office
101 North Washington
14th Floor
Lansing, MI 48913

FILED

MAR 31 2014

LARRY S. ROYSTER
CLERK
MICHIGAN SUPREME COURT

STATE OF MICHIGAN
IN THE SUPREME COURT

STATEMENT OF JURISDICTION

Defendant-Appellant was convicted in the Muskegon County Circuit Court by plea of *nolo contendere* and was sentenced on July 2, 2013. Defendant-Appellant requested the appointment of appellate counsel on August 8, 2013. The offenses occurred after the effective date of the November, 1994 ballot Proposal B that eliminated the right to file a claim of appeal from plea-based convictions. The Court of Appeals had jurisdiction to consider the Defendant-Appellant's application for leave to appeal as it was filed within six months of judgment. MCR 7.203(B); MCR 7.205. The Court of Appeals denied leave to appeal on February 27, 2014. This Court has jurisdiction to grant leave to appeal. MCR 7.301(A).

STATEMENT OF QUESTIONS PRESENTED

- I. DO APPLICATION OF THE SEX OFFENDER LAWS, AND AMENDMENTS TO THE LAWS, TO AN OFFENSE OCCURRING BEFORE JANUARY 1, 2006 VIOLATE BOTH THE STATE AND FEDERAL EX POST FACTO CLAUSES?

Trial Court answers, "No".

Defendant-Appellant answers, "Yes".

Plaintiff-Appellee answered, "No".

Court of Appeals answered, "No".

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Defendant Paul Betts pled no contest to failure to register as sex offender, MCL 28.729 on May 30, 2013 before the Honorable William C. Marietti in the Muskegon County Circuit Court. He was supplemented as a third felony offender, also. MCL 769.11. See Judgment of Sentence, attached. The underlying conviction was a plea-based conviction for CSC 2d degree on December 16, 1993. See PSIR, attached, at 4.

On July 2, 2013, Defendant was sentenced to 36 months on probation with 12 months in jail, credit for 15 days, suspended for pendency of the appeal. *Id.* The sentence was based on a *Cobbs* evaluation for a sentence of 13 months or less. ST 9-10. The plea was conditional in that the trial court allowed Defendant to raise issues which were raised prior to trial in the trial court which might otherwise have been forfeited by a plea. ST at 11.

The State Appellate Defender Office was appointed to perfect an appeal on August 14, 2013. Mr. Betts filed a timely application for leave to appeal in the Court of Appeals; the Court of Appeals denied leave on February 27, 2014. See attached order. Mr. Betts now seeks leave to appeal from this Court.

I. APPLICATION OF THE SEX OFFENDER LAWS, AND AMENDMENTS TO THE LAWS, TO AN OFFENSE OCCURRING BEFORE JANUARY 1, 2006 VIOLATE BOTH THE STATE AND FEDERAL EX POST FACTO CLAUSES.

Standard of Review. The proper standard of review is de novo, because this claim involves an error of law. Questions of law, including the proper interpretation and application of statutes and constitutions, are reviewed de novo. *Paris Meadows, LLC v City of Kentwood*, 287 Mich App 136, 141 (2010).

Discussion. Defendant Paul Betts was plea-convicted of CSC 2d, MCL 750.520c on December 16, 1993. He was sentenced to 5-15 years in prison, and was paroled on November 30, 1999. See PSIR at 4, attached.¹ As noted above, he was most recently convicted of violating the Michigan sex offender registration laws after leaving the state and then moving back for a temporary period. There is a suspended 1-year jail term pending for failing to change his address. See Statement of Facts, above. He challenges the Michigan Sex Offenders Registration Act (SORA), as constitutionally infirm. It is a violation of state and federal ex post facto protections. SORA, especially as amended July 7, 2011, has changed from what was originally a civil law for the protection of society, into a criminal law which imposes serious punishment for violating any of its myriad conditions. Other jurisdictions² have already determined what this Court must find today: the nature of SORA has evolved to the

¹ The victim was a 10-year old child. This Court should also make note of the correct underlying conviction, CSC 2d degree. The prosecution's brief in opposition to Defendant's application for leave to appeal in the Court of Appeal erroneously refers to the conviction as a CSC 1st degree conviction at several points, including the issue heading in the Table of Contents and Counter-Statement of Questions Presented, as well as in the issue heading on page 3. Mr. Betts points this out in advance, although the error may be corrected in the prosecutor's responsive pleading to this Court.

² See *infra*, 11-25.

point that they are punitive now, even if that was not originally true. Accordingly, Mr. Betts has had his constitutional due process rights violated by the prosecution in this case because he was convicted before SORA even existed. Professor Catherine Carpenter says it well:

This Article does not challenge the state's legislative power to enact sex offender registration laws. Instead, this Article posits that, even if sex offender registration schemes initially were constitutional, serially amended sex offender registration schemes--what this Article dubs super-registration schemes--are not. Their emergence demands reexamination of the traditionally held assumptions that defined original registration laws as civil regulations.

See Catherine L. Carpenter and Amy E. Beverlin (Carpenter and Beverlin), *The Evolution of Unconstitutionality in Sex Offender Registration Laws*, 63 Hastings L.J. 1071 (2012). Even if SORA was did not cross the line from civil regulation to criminal punishment at the time it was originally enacted, it does now. Accordingly, it cannot be imposed on those convicted before it became law.

A. History and Development of the Sex Offenders Registration Act

The Michigan Sex Offenders Registration Act (SORA), MCL 28.721 et seq, took effect October 1, 1995. MCL 28.721 et seq. When it was first enacted, the registry information was confidential and not open to public inspection except by law enforcement. *People v Dipiazza*, 286 Mich App 137, 142-143 (2009).³ In September 1999, the statute was amended to make the registry accessible to anyone. Access is

³ The prosecution may argue that *Dipiazza* is not relevant because its facts are very different from those in the case at bar. It is not cited here because of factual similarity as to age of perpetrators and victims. It is cited for other reasons. Above, the devastating effects are clear for someone very young, with virtually no criminal history. For Mr. Betts, who is much older and who is registering at Tier III for CSC on a 10-year-old, the effects are much greater.

by way of the Internet. Any person can see the name, alias, address, physical description, birth date, and specific offenses of any sex offender in Michigan. *Id.*, citing MCL 28.728(4)(a). SORA has been transformed from a law enforcement tool into a community notification law. This is not the intent. It is stated within the statute as follows [MCL 28.721a]:

...to better assist law enforcement officers and the people of this state in preventing and protecting against the commission of future criminal sexual acts by convicted sex offenders. The legislature has determined that a person who has been convicted of committing an offense covered by this act poses a potential serious menace and danger to the health, safety, morals, and welfare of the people, and particularly the children, of this state. The registration requirements of this act are intended to provide law enforcement and the people of this state with an appropriate, comprehensive, and effective means to monitor those persons who pose such a potential danger.⁴

However, in order to comply with the federal Adam Walsh Child Protection and Safety Act,⁵ the federal sex offender law, Michigan's statute underwent a sweeping overhaul. By July 1, 2011 the many changes to the law further altered its character. The changes were ostensibly promulgated toward the above regulatory objective. The result, though, is that they enormously increased the law's punitive effect.

SORA's amendments were largely effective between 2006 and 2011, MCL 28.721 *et seq.*, years after the decision in *Smith v Doe*, 538 US 84, 92; 123 S Ct 1140; 155 L Ed 2d 164 (2003).⁶ Now, registrants are barred from "loitering" or working within 1000

⁴ This, however, was added to the statute *eight years* after the statute was first enacted. See Mich Pub Act 542, § 1a (2002).

⁵ 42 USC § 16901 *et seq* (includes the Sex Offender Registration and Notification Act, or SORNA). The law was enacted July 27, 2006.

⁶ In *Smith v Doe, supra*, the US Supreme Court held that Alaska's sex offender

feet of a school, as well as "having a residence in a school safety zone." These are known as the "school safety zone" provisions (on school property or within 1,000 feet of a school), which became effective January 1, 2006. See MCL 28.733 MCL - MCL 28.735. As a result, persons can theoretically be prosecuted for watching their child's sports event or meeting with teachers on school grounds.⁷ Another such change is

registration law was not punitive in nature, and, thus, did not violate ex post facto prohibitions. There are many reasons that this holding does not control the instant case. Among them are that the Alaska statute is not as punitive as the Michigan statute in many respects. For example, the split Court found in-person reporting was not required; that registrants were "free to move where they wish and to live and work as other citizens, with no supervision" and were "free to change jobs or residences;" that there was "no evidence that the Act has led to substantial occupational or housing disadvantages for former sex offenders that would not have otherwise occurred;" that the "Act does not restrain activities sex offenders may pursue;" and that the consequences of the Act "flow[ed] not from the Act's registration and dissemination provision, but from the fact of conviction." *Id.* at 100-101. Also important is that the most punitive changes to the statute, such as quarterly in-person reporting, the school "loitering" provisions, and the annual \$50 fee, became law many years after the 2003 decision in *Smith v Doe*.

The present version of SORA severely limits Mr. Betts's ability to find housing and employment, get an education, travel, engage in free speech, be free from harassment and stigma, and understand what is legally required of him. It also subjects him to in-person supervision that is more onerous than what he experienced while serving his prison sentence and being on parole. It publicly and falsely identifies him as among the most dangerous sex offenders on the registry as a Tier III offender, despite any clinical or legal evidence to support this. This is discussed further, *infra*.

⁷ There are many cases which illustrate the absurd outcomes which result from imposing the ever more stigmatizing state SOR schemes on those convicted before their enactment. This is especially true with residency requirements. See e.g., *Mann v Ga. Dep't of Corr.*, 653 SE2d 740 (Ga. 2007) (finding Georgia's residency restrictions unconstitutional only insofar as they permitted the regulatory taking of the defendant's home without just compensation; Defendant was also prohibited from entering the restaurant he half owned and ran because child-care facilities located themselves within 1000 feet of Mann's business). See also, *F.R. v St. Charles County Sheriff's Department* and *Missouri v Raynor*, 301 SW3d 56 (2010) (concerning sex offenders convicted well before enactment of state SOR scheme, but punished under

that many individuals had to register for life, rather than for 25 years. MCL 28.725(12). These changes are discussed more fully below.

SORA Tiers. The amended version of SORA categorizes offenders as one of three kinds: Tier I, Tier II, or Tier III. The classifications are not based on any kind of individualized risk assessment. Instead, they are based only on the designated conviction. MCL 28.722(r)-(v). There are no provisions for petitioning for removal from the registry for many, if not most, individuals. Further, there are now regular in-person reporting requirements to verify residence: once a year for Tier I (registration period-15 years), twice a year for Tier II (registration period-25 years) and four times a year for Tier III (registration period-life).⁸ MCL 28.725(1)(10)-(13). Tier III offenders are required to report in person quarterly, within a specific 15-day period. MCL 28.725a(3)(c). This requirement is life-long. MCL 28.725(12). *Id.*

Other particular requirements. Any change in one's address requires in-person reporting within three business days; there is no exception to this requirement. MCL 28.725(1)(a); MCL 28.722(g). Other changes which require this immediate in-person

same). In *F.R. v St. Charles County Sheriff's Department*, the offender moved into a home after being released only to be told that it was only 913 feet, rather than 1,000 feet, from a child care facility and that he would have to move out. *Id.*, at 60. In *Missouri v Raynor*, the state SOR required Mr. Raynor, as a sex offender, observe these restrictions on Halloween night: (1) avoid contact with children; (2) remain inside his residence; (3) post a sign on his door; and (4) leave his light off. Although his female partner was giving out candy and he did not have contact with any children, he had not posted the sign. This was a violation under the state scheme. The Supreme Court of Missouri held that both cases impermissibly violated the state constitutional prohibition against use of retrospective laws to support conviction. *Id.*, 62, 65-66.

⁸ Mr. Betts is a Tier III offender, as the victim in his case was a 10-year old child. MCL 28.722. See *Carpenter, supra*, at 4.

reporting include: changing or discontinuing employment, enrolling in discontinuing higher education, name changes, temporary residing at other than registered address for more than 7 days, email address change, and purchase or "regular operation of any vehicle. MCL 28.725(1)(b)-(g). Most recently, the fees were increased. Registrants will be required to pay not a one-time registration fee of \$50, but an annual fee for the time they are listed. Public Act 149 of 2013. The legislation is also retroactive. MCL 28.723. Violations result in criminal penalties and include sentences up to ten years. MCL 28.729; 28.734(2); 28.735(2). See also, Cheryl Carpenter (C. Carpenter), *One Step Forward, Two Steps back for Reform: The 2011 Michigan Sex Offender Registry Amendments, Part One*; Criminal Defense Newsletter, May 2011, Volume 34, No. 8 at 1-4.

Of these cumulative changes, experienced together for someone on the SOR, Ms. Carpenter observes:

Being a listed offender entails much more than verifying an address and having a photograph on the registry. SOR impacts every area of a registrant's life - personal relationships, employment, housing, travel and mental health. Parents who are registered sex offenders cannot participate in their child's school activities because the student safety zone does not allow them to "loiter" within a 1000 feet of an elementary middle or high school. School districts and law enforcement liberally construe loiter (sic) to include parent/teacher conferences, sporting activities and the like. SOR is not a collateral consequence of a sexual conviction. It is a direct, punitive consequence that has major implications on a person's life. *Id.* at 2.

B. Michigan's sex offender registration statutory scheme is punishment, not regulation, on its face and as applied for state and federal ex post facto purposes.

Instant claim. Ex post facto laws are prohibited by both the Michigan and federal constitutions. *People v Callon*, 256 Mich App 312, 316-317 (2003):

Ex post facto laws are prohibited by both the Michigan Constitution, Const. 1963, art. 1, § 10 (“no bill of attainder, ex post facto law or law impairing the obligation of contract shall be enacted”), and United States Constitution, U.S. Const., art. I, § 10 (“no state shall ... pass any Bill of Attainder, ex post facto Law, or Law impairing the Obligation of Contracts....”). Michigan does not interpret its constitutional provision more expansively than its federal counterpart. *Attorney General v. Pub. Service Comm.*, 249 Mich.App. 424, 434, 642 N.W.2d 691 (2002); *People v. Pennington*, 240 Mich.App. 188, 191 n. 1, 610 N.W.2d 608 (2000). Both the state and federal ex post facto clauses are designed to secure substantial personal rights against arbitrary and oppressive legislation, *People v. Russo*, 439 Mich. 584, 592, 487 N.W.2d 698 (1992); *Pennington, supra*, and to ensure fair notice that conduct is criminal, *People v. Stevenson*, 416 Mich. 383, 396, 331 N.W.2d 143 (1982); *People v. Davis*, 181 Mich.App. 354, 357, 448 N.W.2d 842 (1989).

The federal courts have prohibited the passage of laws that impose punishments for acts that 1) were not punishable at the time they were committed or 2) impose punishments in addition to those prescribed at the time of the offense. *Weaver v Graham*, 450 US 24, 28; 101 S Ct 960; 67 L Ed 2d 17 (1981). Accordingly, to be ex post facto, a law must both operate retrospectively and disadvantage the person affected by it by either changing the definition of criminal conduct or imposing additional punishment for such conduct. *Id.* Michigan courts have similarly held that an ex post facto law is one that affects the prosecution or disposition of cases involving crimes committed before the law's effective date by (1) criminalizing conduct that was innocent, (2) making an act a more serious offense, (3) inflicting greater punishment for a crime, or (4) allowing conviction on lesser evidence. *Callon, supra*, at 317; *People v Haynes*, 256 Mich App 341, 350 (2003). Both the state and federal ex post facto clauses are designed to protect citizens from arbitrary and oppressive legislation and to ensure fair notice of conduct that is criminal. *Id.*

The Michigan Sex Offenders Registration Act violates protections against ex post facto laws under both the Michigan Constitution and the United States Constitution.⁹ Mich Const 1963, art 1, § 17; US Const, Ams V, XIV. See also, *Foster v Booker*, 595 F.3d 353 (CA 6, 2010). This is because it imposes retroactive criminal sanctions for conduct committed before its enactment. Additionally, the combination of requirements under the law are, in and of themselves, too onerous to be civil. Many of them were enacted from 2006-2011; all of them were enacted after Mr. Betts was convicted and sentenced. The State maintains that SORA is civil and non-punitive, but this is not the case. See *infra*. Even though the Legislature states that the purpose of the law is to regulate potentially dangerous conduct by ex-offenders, if the scheme is "so punitive either in purpose or effect as to negate the State's

⁹ The US Constitution provides:

§ 10, Clause 1. Treaties, Letters of Marque and Reprisal; Coinage of Money; Bills of Credit; Gold and Silver as Legal Tender; Bills of Attainder; Ex Post Facto:

"No State shall enter into any Treaty, Alliance, or Confederation; grant Letters of Marque and Reprisal; coin Money; emit Bills of Credit; make any Thing but gold and silver Coin a Tender in Payment of Debts; pass any Bill of Attainder, ex post facto Law, or Law impairing the Obligation of Contracts, or grant any Title of Nobility."

The Michigan Constitution provides:

art 1, § 10. Attainder; ex post facto laws; impairment of contracts

Currentness:

Sec. 10. No bill of attainder, ex post facto law or law impairing the obligation of contract shall be enacted.

intention to deem it 'civil', it is, in reality, a law with criminal penalties.” *Kansas v Hendricks*, 521 US 346, 361; 117 S Ct 2072; 138 L Ed 2d 501 (1997). SORA is clearly punitive for reasons discussed below.

Previous decisions. In many past cases which examine the Michigan scheme and other state registry schemes, courts have held that sex offender registries are not punitive in nature. Thus, the reasoning goes, they do not violate ex post facto protections. See e.g., *Doe v Kelley*, 961 F Supp 1105, 1109 (WD Mich, 1997); *Lanni v Engler*, 994 F Supp 849 (ED Mich, 1998). In *Smith v Doe*, 538 US 84, 92; 123 S Ct 1140; 155 L Ed 2d 164 (2003), the US Supreme Court also held that Alaska's sex offender registration law does not violate the ex post facto clause.

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