STATE OF MICHIGAN

IN THE SUPREME COURT

---

THE PEOPLE OF THE  
STATE OF MICHIGAN,

Plaintiff-Appellee,

vs.

PAUL J. BETTS, JR.,

Defendant-Appellant.

SC No. 148981

COA No. 319642

Lower Court File No. 12-062665-FH  
Muskegon County Circuit Court

---

MUSKEGON COUNTY PROSECUTOR  
Attorney for Plaintiff  
By: Charles F. Justian (P35428)  
Hall of Justice, Fifth Floor  
990 Terrace Street  
Muskegon, Michigan 49442  
(616) 724-6435

---

STATE APPELLATE DEFENDER OFFICE  
Attorney for Defendant  
By: Jeanice Dagher-Margosian (P35933)  
200 North Washington, Suite 250  
Lansing, MI 48913  
(517) 334-6069

---

**PLAINTIFF-APPELLEE'S RESPONSE TO

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

## LAW AND ARGUMENT

### APPLICATION OF THE SEX OFFENDER REGISTRATION ACT TO DEFENDANT’S PRE-JANUARY 1, 2006, CONVICTION OF FIRST-DEGREE CRIMINAL SEXUAL CONDUCT INVOLVING A CHILD UNDER THE AGE OF 13 DID NOT VIOLATE THE EX POST FACTO CLAUSE OF EITHER THE UNITED STATES OR MICHIGAN CONSTITUTIONS

#### A. Standard of review

Questions of constitutional interpretation are reviewed de novo. *People v Keller*, 479 Mich 467, 473-474; 739 NW2d 505 (2007).

#### B. Analysis of the issue

The thrust of defendant’s argument is that requiring him to register as a sex offender is a violation of the Ex Post Facto Clause.<sup>2</sup> The quick answer to his argument is *Smith v Doe*, 538 US 84, 97; 123 S Ct 1140, 1149; 155 L Ed 2d 164 (2003), and *People v Pennington*, 240 Mich App 188, 191-192; 610 NW2d 608 (2000), which, respectively, hold that the registration requirements are not punishment and that SORA therefore did not violate the constitutional prohibition against ex post facto laws. See also *People v Bosca*, \_\_\_ Mich App \_\_\_; \_\_\_ NW2d \_\_\_; 2015 WL 1372641 (Appendix A, slip op, p 28 [“application of the 2011 version of SORA to defendant, notwithstanding that defendant’s offenses were committed before its effective date, does not violate the ex post facto clause”]), and *People v Temelkoski (On Remand)*, 307 Mich App 241, 270-271; 859 NW2d 743 (2014). A more complete analysis follows.

---

<sup>2</sup> US Const, art I, § 10, cl 1; Const 1963, art 1, § 10. As conceded by Defendant, Michigan courts treat the state prohibition on ex post facto laws as identical to its federal counterparts. *Attorney General v Mich Pub Serv Comm’n*, 249 Mich App 424, 434; 642 NW2d 691 (2002). (Defendant’s application for leave, p 6.)

It should be noted to begin with that *People v Dipiazza*, 286 Mich App 137; 778 NW2d 264 (2009), has no application here on the question of “punishment”. It involved a HYTA<sup>3</sup> Defendant who challenged his registration requirements under SORA as a violation of Michigan’s cruel or unusual punishment clause, Const 1963, art 1, § 16. This case, on the other hand, involves application of the Ex Post Facto Clause. The test for the former is different than that applied to the latter.<sup>4</sup> Also, the decision in *Dipiazza* is best described as *sui generis* in that its facts are rarely present and the Court in *Dipiazza* was quite clear in noting that it was an “as applied” case.<sup>5</sup> *Dipiazza*, 286 Mich App at 153. Without belaboring the point, Defendant can hardly position himself in the stead of Mr. Dipiazza. He was not placed on HYTA and was not a juvenile. Cf. *Temelkoski*, 307 Mich App at 257-258.

In any event, this is not the first time someone tried to challenge whether a state’s SORA legislation violated the Ex Post Facto Clause. Such a challenge of Alaska’s version of SORA

---

<sup>3</sup> Holmes Youthful Trainee Act, MCL 762.11 *et seq.*

<sup>4</sup> In *Dipiazza*, the prosecution argued, unsuccessfully, that the test in *Smith*, 538 US at 97; 123 S Ct at 1149 (ex post facto case), applied equally to cruel or unusual punishment claims. The Supreme Court of California noted the question whether the test for cruel and unusual punishment was different than for ex post facto claims: “We also assume those decisions contemplated a test under which some measures might be considered punitive for Eighth Amendment purposes, even if not so under other constitutional provisions, such as the ex post facto and double jeopardy clauses.” *In re Alva*, 33 Cal 4th 254, 286; 92 P3d 311, 330; 14 Cal Rptr 3d 811, 834 (2004). This view was supported by *Austin v United States*, 509 US 602, 610 n 6; 113 S Ct 2801, 2806 n 6; 125 L Ed 2d 488 (1993), wherein the Court stated, specifically, that, “[i]n addressing the separate question whether punishment is being imposed, the Court has not employed the tests articulated in *Mendoza–Martinez*[.]” The *Dipiazza* Court applied the test stated in *In re Ayres*, 239 Mich App 8, 13-14; 608 NW2d 132 (1999), which is not the test found in *Kennedy v Mendoza-Martinez*, 372 US 144, 168-169; 83 S Ct 554; 9 L Ed 2d 644 (1963), known as the *Mendoza-Martinez* test. *Dipiazza*, 286 Mich App at 147-148. The United States Supreme Court, however, clearly includes the *Mendoza-Martinez* test as part of the *intent-effects* test it employs for ex post facto claims. *Smith*, 538 US at 97; 123 S Ct at 1149.

<sup>5</sup> This is confirmed, as well, by the Court in *In re TD*, 292 Mich App 678; 823 NW2d 101, 106 (2011), wherein the Court noted: “The Court thus went on to determine anew whether, *in light of the specific facts of Dipiazza*, the SORA registration requirements were punishment as applied to a juvenile. *Id.* at 147-153.” (Emphasis supplied.)

reached the United States Supreme Court in *Smith, supra*. The Court held that Alaska’s law is nonpunitive and, therefore, the Ex Post Facto Clause was not infringed. The Supreme Court reasoned that, “[i]n analyzing the effects of the [Alaska] Act [requiring registration as a sex offender] [the Court] refer[red] to the seven factors noted in *Kennedy v Mendoza-Martinez*, 372 US 144, 168-169; 83 S Ct 554; 9 L Ed 2d 644 (1963), as a useful framework.” *Smith v Doe*, 538 US 84, 97; 123 S Ct 1140, 1149; 155 L Ed 2d 164 (2003). This involves a two-step *intent-effects* analysis. *Id.*, 92; 123 S Ct at 1146-1147.

Initially, under the *intent* prong, the Court must decide whether the Legislature’s intent in enacting SORA was penal or remedial. *Id.* In making this evaluation the Court will look to the objectives expressed by the Legislature and “[o]ther formal attributes of a legislative enactment, such as the manner of its codification or the enforcement procedures it establishes, are probative of the legislature’s intent.” *Smith*, 538 US at 93-94; 123 S Ct at 1147-1148. If the Court concludes that the Legislature intended the statutory scheme to be nonpunitive, the Court will ordinarily defer to that legislative intent. *Id.*

The *effect* prong, however, recognizes that the Legislature’s remedial intent is not dispositive of the issue whether it is remedial or punitive *in effect*. Thus, the Legislature’s remedial intent can be overcome if the challenger can demonstrate by the “clearest proof” that the statutory scheme is so punitive either in purpose or effect as to negate the Legislature’s intention to deem it remedial rather than punitive. *Id.* It is this *effect* prong that involves the weighing of five of the seven factors that the *Smith* Court adopted from *Mendoza-Martinez*. The Court considered “most relevant to [the] analysis ... whether, in its necessary operation, the regulatory scheme [1] has been regarded in our history and traditions as a punishment; [2] imposes an affirmative disability or restraint; [3] promotes the traditional aims of punishment;

[4] has a rational connection to a nonpunitive purpose; or [5] is excessive with respect to this purpose.”<sup>6</sup> *Smith*, 538 US at 97; 123 S Ct at 1149.

Again, in *Smith*, the Court was examining Alaska’s version of Megan’s Law, which, like Michigan’s SORA, contains two components (a registration requirement and a notification system) to decide whether its retroactive application violated the *Ex Post Facto* Clause. *Smith*, 538 US at 90; 123 S Ct at 1145. The Court held that, because the law did not constitute “punishment” the *Ex Post Facto* Clause did not bar its retroactive application:

Our examination of the Act’s effects leads to the determination that respondents cannot show, much less by the clearest proof, that the effects of the law negate Alaska’s intention to establish a civil regulatory scheme. The Act is nonpunitive, and its retroactive application does not violate the *Ex Post Facto* Clause. [*Smith*, 538 US at 106; 123 S Ct at 1154.]

The Court in *Smith* noted that “[t]he following information is made available to the public: ‘the sex offender’s or child kidnapper’s name, aliases, address, photograph, physical description, description[,] license [and] identification numbers of motor vehicles, place of employment, date of birth, crime for which convicted, date of conviction, place and court of conviction, length and conditions of sentence, and a statement as to whether the offender or kidnapper is in compliance with [the update] requirements ... or cannot be located.’”<sup>7</sup> *Smith*, 538

---

<sup>6</sup> The *Smith* Court stated that “[t]he two remaining *Mendoza-Martinez* factors-whether the regulation comes into play only on a finding of scienter and whether the behavior to which it applies is already a crime-are of little weight in this case.” *Smith*, 538 US at 105; 123 S Ct at 1154.

<sup>7</sup> Under MCL 28.728(2)(a)-(l), Michigan’s SORA generally makes the following information available to the public under MCL 28.728(7):

- (a) The individual’s legal name and any aliases, nicknames, ethnic or tribal names, or other names by which the individual is or has been known.
- (b) The individual’s date of birth.
- (c) The address where the individual resides. If the individual does not have a residential address, information under this subsection shall identify the village, city, or township used by the individual in lieu of a residence.

US at 91; 123 S Ct at 1146. The Alaska “Act does not specify the means by which the registry information must be made public. Alaska has chosen to make most of the nonconfidential information available on the Internet.”<sup>8</sup> *Id.*

The Court explained that, “[i]f the intention of the legislature was to impose punishment, that ends the inquiry.” *Smith*, 538 US at 92; 123 S Ct at 1147. In other words, if it is deemed punishment then the *Ex Post Facto* Clause would bar retroactive application of Alaska’s law: “A conclusion that the legislature intended to punish would satisfy an *ex post facto* challenge without further inquiry into its effects. *Id.*, 93; 123 S Ct at 1147. For this reason, “considerable deference must be accorded to the intent as the legislature has stated it.” *Id.*

---

(d) The address of each of the individual’s employers. For purposes of this subdivision, “employer” includes a contractor and any individual who has agreed to hire or contract with the individual for his or her services. Information under this subsection shall include the address or location of employment if different from the address of the employer.

(e) The address of any school being attended by the individual and any school that has accepted the individual as a student that he or she plans to attend. For purposes of this subdivision, “school” means a public or private postsecondary school or school of higher education, including a trade school.

(f) The license plate number or registration number and description of any motor vehicle, aircraft, or vessel owned or regularly operated by the individual.

(g) A brief summary of the individual’s convictions for listed offenses regardless of when the conviction occurred.

(h) A complete physical description of the individual.

(i) The photograph required under this act. If no photograph is available, the department shall use an arrest photograph or Michigan department of corrections photograph until a photograph as prescribed in section 5a becomes available.

(j) The text of the provision of law that defines the criminal offense for which the sex offender is registered.

(k) The individual’s registration status.

(l) The individual’s tier classification.

<sup>8</sup> Under MCL 28.728(7), Michigan makes the information available to law enforcement agencies and “[t]he department shall make the public internet website available to the public by electronic, computerized, or other similar means accessible to the public. The electronic, computerized, or other similar means shall provide for a search by name, village, city, township, and county designation, zip code, and geographical area.”

“Because we ‘ordinarily defer to the legislature’s stated intent,’ ... “only the clearest proof” will suffice to override legislative intent and transform what has been denominated a civil remedy into a criminal penalty[.]”” *Smith*, 538 US at 92; 123 S Ct at 1147 (citations omitted). “If, however, the intention was to enact a regulatory scheme that is civil and nonpunitive, we must further examine whether the statutory scheme is “so punitive either in purpose or effect as to negate [the State’s] intention” to deem it “civil.””” *Smith*, 538 US at 92; 123 S Ct at 1147.

Thus, the Court began its foray into legislative intent by first determining whether the Alaska legislature had openly expressed its intent that Megan’s Law is nonpunitive. It decided it had, stating:

Here, the Alaska Legislature expressed the objective of the law in the statutory text itself. The legislature found that “sex offenders pose a high risk of reoffending,” and identified “protecting the public from sex offenders” as the “primary governmental interest” of the law. 1994 Alaska Sess Laws ch 41, § 1. The legislature further determined that “release of certain information about sex offenders to public agencies and the general public will assist in protecting the public safety.” *Ibid.* As we observed in *Hendricks*, where we examined an *ex post facto* challenge to a postincarceration confinement of sex offenders, an imposition of restrictive measures on sex offenders adjudged to be dangerous is “a legitimate nonpunitive governmental objective and has been historically so regarded.” 521 US at 363; 117 S Ct 2072. In this case, as in *Hendricks*, “[n]othing on the face of the statute suggests that the legislature sought to create anything other than a civil ... scheme designed to protect the public from harm.” *Id.*, at 361, 117 S.Ct. 2072. [*Smith*, 538 US at 93; 123 S Ct at 1147.]

The same reasoning, of course, applies to Michigan’s SORA. Under MCL 28.721a the Legislature stated the purpose behind SORA thusly:

The legislature declares that the sex offenders registration act was enacted pursuant to the legislature’s exercise of the police power of the state with the intent to better assist law enforcement officers and the people of this state in preventing and protecting against the commission of future criminal sexual acts by convicted sex offenders. The legislature has determined that a person who has been convicted of committing an offense covered by this act poses a potential serious menace and danger to the health, safety, morals, and welfare of the people, and particularly the children, of this state. The registration requirements of this act are intended to provide law enforcement and the people of this state

with an appropriate, comprehensive, and effective means to monitor those persons who pose such a potential danger.

Accordingly, this Court should defer to the Legislature's stated nonpunitive objective in concluding that registration under SORA is not punishment.

The Court in *Smith* rejected the respondent's attempt "to cast doubt upon the nonpunitive nature of the law's declared objective by pointing out that the Alaska Constitution lists the need for protecting the public as one of the purposes of criminal administration", stating that "even if the objective of the Act is consistent with the purposes of the Alaska criminal justice system, the State's pursuit of it in a regulatory scheme does not make the objective punitive." *Smith*, 538 US at 93-94; 123 S Ct at 1147-1148.

The Court also stated that "[o]ther formal attributes of a legislative enactment, such as the manner of its codification or the enforcement procedures it establishes, are probative of the legislature's intent." *Smith*, 538 US at 94; 123 S Ct at 1148. It observed that Alaska's "notification provisions of the Act are codified in the State's 'Health, Safety, and Housing Code,' § 18, confirming [the Court's] conclusion that the statute was intended as a nonpunitive regulatory measure." *Id.* And, although "[t]he Act's registration provisions ... are codified in the State's criminal procedure code," this was not considered dispositive because "[t]he location and labels of a statutory provision do not by themselves transform a civil remedy into a criminal one." *Id.*

The Court observed that Alaska's Code of Criminal Procedure "contains many provisions that do not involve criminal punishment, such as civil procedures for disposing of recovered and seized property ...; laws protecting the confidentiality of victims and witnesses ...; laws governing the security and accuracy of criminal justice information ...; [and] laws governing civil postconviction actions[.]" *Smith*, 538 US at 95; 123 S Ct at 1148. "[U]nder Alaska law

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